IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CASE NO. SC02-1173

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

-vs-

ROBERT BAEZ,

Respondent.

ON PETITION FOR DISCRETIONARY JURISDICTION FROM THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL OF FLORIDA, FOURTH DISTRICT

INITIAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER ON THE MERITS

RICHARD E. DORAN Attorney General Tallahassee, Florida

CELIA A. TERENZIO Assistant Attorney General Chief, West Palm Beach Bureau Florida Bar No. 656879

MELYNDA L. MELEAR Assistant Attorney General Florida Bar No. 765570 1515 North Flagler Drive, Ninth Floor West Palm Beach, Florida 33401 (561) 837-5000

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT
STATEMENT OF THE CASE
STATEMENT OF THE FACTS
SUMMARY ARGUMENT
ARGUMENT
THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT RESPONDENT WAS SEIZED WHEN THE DEPUTY RAN A COMPUTER CHECK ON HIS LICENSE.
CONCLUSION
CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

Cases Cited

Page Number

Bernie v. State, 524 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1988)
Florida v. Bostick, 501 U.S. 429, 436 (1991) 8, 14, 27
Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 501 (1983) 8
I.N.S. v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210, 217-218 (1984) 8
Lightbourne v. State, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983) 6, 8-11
McCain v. Commonwealth, 545 S.E. 2d 541 (Va. 2001) 20
McClane v. Rose, 537 So. 2d 652 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) 13
Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 567 (1988) 8
O.A. v. State, 754 So. 2d 717 (Fla. 4 th DCA 1998) \ldots 26
Parsons v. State, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D988 (Fla. 2d DCA May 3, 2002)
People v. Cole, 627 N.E. 2d 1187 (Ill. App. 2d Dist. 1987) 22
People v. Garcia, 2002 WL 89006 (Cal. App. 5 th Dist. 2002)(unpublished)
People v. Gonzalez, 753 N.E. 2d 1209 (Ill. App. 2d Dist 2001)
People v. Millsaps, 2002 WL 1733245 (Cal. App. 1 st Dist. 2002)(unpublished)
People v. Paynter, 955 P. 2d 68, 73 (Colo. 1998) 20
People v. Purdy, 2002 WL 31689735 (Cal. App. 5 th Dist. 2002)(unpublished)
People v. Robinson, 2002 WL 27127 (Cal. App. 4^{th} Dist.

People v. Smith, 640 N.E. 2d 647 (Ill. App. 4th Dist. 1994) 21 People v. Terrell, 69 Cal. App. 4th 1246 (Cal. App. 2nd Dist. 1999) 23 People v. Williams, 2002 WL 1050442 (Cal. App. Cal. App. 1st 23 People v. Lampkin, 2002 WL 15668 (Cal. App. 5th Dist. 23 State v. Arnold, 475 So. 2d 301 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) 12 State v. Chang, 668 So. 2d 207, 208 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996) . . 11 2002 WL 31719351 (Ohio App. 9th Dist. State v. Glen, 2002)(unpublished) . 21 State v. Hansen, 994 P. 2d 855 (Wash. App. Div. 1 2000) . . 26 State v. Mitchell, 638 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994) . . . 12 Morgan, 2002 WL 63196 (Ohio App. 2nd Dist. State v. 2002)(unpublished) . 21 State v. Ott, 584 A. 2d 1266 (Md. App. 1990), quashed on other 21 State v. Robinson, 740 So. 2d 9, 11-12 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999) 12 7 U.S. v. Analla, 975 F.2d 119 (4th Cir. 1992) 15 U.S. v. Battista, 876 F. 2d 201 (D.C. Cir. 1989) 18 U.S. v. De La Rosa, 922 F. 2d 675 (11th Cir. 1991) 16 U.S. v. Dunigan, 884 F. 2d 1010 (7th Cir. 1989) 17 U.S. v. Himes, 25 Fed. Appx. 727, 2001 WL 1241136 (10th Cir. 17

Statutes Cited

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner, the STATE OF FLORIDA, was the prosecution in the trial court and Appellee in the District Court of Appeal of Florida, Fourth District. Respondent, ROBERT BAEZ, was the Respondent in the trial court and the Appellant in the District Court of Appeal. The parties shall be referred to as they stand before this Court. The symbol "R." designates the original record on appeal, and the symbol "T." designates the transcript of the trial court proceedings. The symbol "A." designates the Appendix to this brief.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Respondent was charged in an information with possession of cocaine (R. 3). At trial, the court denied Respondent's motion to suppress based on an unlawful stop (T. 126). Appellant was adjudicated guilty of the charge and sentenced to five and a half months in the Broward County Jail with credit for time served (T. 25-32).

On appeal, the Fourth District reversed this denial finding that a reasonable person in Respondent's position would not have felt free to leave while the officer was running a check on his license, so that a detention occurred at this point, requiring reasonable suspicion to keep Respondent (A. 1-3). This court accepted conflict jurisdiction in this case and issued a briefing schedule.

<u>1</u>

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Deputy Schneider testified that on August 8, 2000 at around 8:30, while working road patrol, he was dispatched to a warehouse area in the City of Weston (T. 82). He said that he was asked to assist the Broward County EMS "with a suspicious incident where a subject may be passed out behind the wheel of a vehicle" (T. 82). He stated that the area where he was dispatched was unoccupied at the time and that there was limited lighting (T. 82).

Upon his arrival, Deputy Schneider observed a white van in the parking lot, meeting the description given over dispatch, with a white male slumped over the wheel (T. 82-83). The deputy said that it appeared that the male, who he identified as Respondent, was either asleep or that something was wrong (T. 83). He explained, "I'm concerned for his safety, first of all. . Incapacitated or something was wrong and he needed either medical attention or some kind of attention." (T. 83). He said that he knocked on the window of the van and Respondent sat upright (T. 83).

Deputy Schneider testified that he identified himself as an officer and asked if he was okay (T. 84). He stated that Respondent did not appear to hear him through the window, so he stepped out of the vehicle to talk to him (T. 84). He said that

2

he again asked Respondent if he was okay, to which Respondent replied that he was sleeping (T. 84).

Deputy Schneider testified that at this point, he asked Respondent for identification, which he described as routine procedure under the circumstances (T. 84, 91-92). He checked the information on his computer and found that there was a possible warrant from out of state (T. 113).

The deputy placed Respondent in the back of his patrol car at the scene (T. 84-85). After Respondent was subsequently placed in another deputy's vehicle, Deputy Schneider found two pink, small plastic baggies with a white powdery-substance in this vehicle, later determined to be cocaine (T. 85-86, 142).

Respondent testified, outside the presence of the jury, that he had parked in the open parking lot in front of a building to eat the food that he just picked up before going to pick up his kids (T. 118-119). He said that he fell asleep and was awoken when he heard tapping on the glass of his window (T. 119-120). He said that an officer was standing by his vehicle (T. 120). He lowered his window because the officer could not hear him (T. 120). He testified that he told the officer that he was fine and proceeded to drive away when the officer ordered him to give him his license (T. 120).

<u>3</u>

Deputy Hubcheck testified that he arrived on the scene as backup (T. 127). His first contact with Respondent was when he took him out of Deputy Schneider's vehicle and directed him to his own vehicle (T. 128). He said that Deputy Schneider then searched his vehicle (T. 130). Deputy Hubcheck transported Respondent to the jail (T. 131).

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The district court erred in finding that Respondent was seized when the deputy ran a computer check on his license. The court failed to consider the totality of the circumstances surrounding the encounter. The fact that the deputy briefly retained the license should not have been dispositive on the issue of whether Respondent was seized. Rather, had all of the circumstances been reviewed, the court would have had to find that Respondent voluntarily continued the encounter, because the deputy did not act in any way to make a reasonable person feel as if he could not end the situation.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED IN DETERMINING THAT RESPONDENT WAS SEIZED WHEN THE DEPUTY RAN A COMPUTER CHECK ON HIS LICENSE.

On appeal, the Fourth District reversed the trial court's denial of the motion to suppress, finding that a reasonable person in Respondent's position would not have felt free to leave while the officer was running a check on his license, so that a detention occurred at this point, requiring reasonable suspicion to keep Respondent (A. 2-3). The court reasoned that this case is distinguishable from this court's opinion in <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983) because the officer herein did not act on a tip of suspicious activity and was not concerned about the welfare of Respondent (A. 2-3).

The Fourth District also distinguished this case from other district court cases by pointing out that the courts in the other Florida cases cited by Petitioner rested their decisions on whether the defendants consented to searches, and not on the validity of the stops. Petitioner submits that the Fourth District's opinion is in direct conflict with not only this court's opinion in <u>Lightbourne</u>, but also with other district court cases, as well as is inconsistent with case law from other jurisdictions. Moreover, the State suggests that the court's

<u>6</u>

reasoning that a reasonable person in Respondent's position would not have felt free to leave is flawed; the court failed to consider the totality of the circumstances.

Not all personal intercourse between law enforcement and citizens is a seizure. Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 20 (1968). An officer does not violate the Fourth Amendment by approaching a person on the street and asking questions and for identification. Id. at 31-33. This is because the person approached does not have to listen or comply. Id. Hence, the court in U.S. v. Mendenhall, 446 U.S. 544 (1980) held that the defendant was not seized when the officers, based on a profile, encountered the defendant on a concourse, asked to look at her license and ticket, and upon returning these items, asked the defendant to accompany them to an office upstairs in the airport where they asked for permission to search her person.¹

The court in <u>Mendenhall</u> stated that a person is seized only when physical force or a show of authority restricts his freedom of movement. The court listed circumstances that might indicate a seizure: threatening presence of several officers, the display of a weapon by an officer, some physical touching of the person

¹By reason of the 1982 amendment to article I, section 12 of the Florida Constitution, this court is bound to follow United States Supreme Court precedent on the Fourth Amendment. <u>Bernie v. State</u>, 524 So. 2d 988 (Fla. 1988).

of the citizen, or the use of language or tone of voice indicating that compliance with the officer's request might be compelled. 446 U.S. at 554. The court explained, "In the absence of some such evidence, otherwise inoffensive contact between a member of the public and the police cannot, as a matter of law, amount to a seizure of that person." <u>Id</u>.

Later, the court in <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 491, 501 (1983) decided that it was permissible for the officer to examine the defendant's airline ticket and driver's license upon approaching him in the airport. It further determined in <u>I.N.S.</u> <u>v. Delgado</u>, 466 U.S. 210, 217-218 (1984) that I.N.S. agents could individually approach workers in a factory and ask about, and for proof of, residency and citizenship without implicating the Fourth Amendment, even though agents stood next to the doors of the factory while the survey was being conducted.

Even where a person's movements are "confined" to an extent, an encounter is not necessarily rendered a seizure. <u>See Michigan</u> <u>v. Chesternut</u>, 486 U.S. 567 (1988)(police drove alongside pedestrian to find out where he was going). For instance, in <u>Florida v. Bostick</u>, 501 U.S. 429, 436 (1991), the defendant was a passenger on a bus about to depart when he was approached. The court held, therefore, that the inquiry was not whether a reasonable person would feel free to leave in this situation,

<u>8</u>

but whether a reasonable person would feel free to decline the officer's requests or otherwise terminate the encounter. <u>Id</u>. After all, the refusal to cooperate does not furnish any objective justification for detention. <u>Id</u>. at 437.

Appropriately, then, this court in <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983) upheld the checking of the defendant's license as not in violation of the Fourth Amendment, even though it was not contended that the officer had reasonable suspicion to believe an offense had been committed. In <u>Lightbourne</u>, the officer approached the defendant as he sat in his vehicle after having responded to the scene pursuant to a general call of suspicious activity. This court did not find that the officer's computer check of the defendant's license constituted an illegal seizure. This court explained:

Officer McGowan simply approached the parked car, asked defendant a few simple questions as the reason for his presence there, his current address, and then routine check on defendant's ran а car and identification. Surely the average, reasonable person, under similar circumstances, would not find the officer's actions unduly harsh. There is nothing in the record that would indicate that prior to defendant voluntarily relinquishing his driver's license to Officer McGowan he was not free to express an alternative wish to go on his way.

438 So. 2d at 387-388.(emphasis supplied).

Acknowledging that this court in Lightbourne deemed the

<u>9</u>

encounter between the defendant and the officer as a consensual one wherein the defendant voluntarily handed to the officer his identification, which was then checked, the Fourth District nonetheless distinguished the instant case from <u>Lightbourne</u> based on two reasons: the responding officer was not acting on a tip of suspicious activity and the officer was not concerned about the safety of the defendant upon looking at his identification (A. 3). However, in so doing, the Fourth District apparently overlooked testimony in the record and facts relied on by this court in <u>Lightbourne</u>.

First, in this case, Deputy Schneider, expressly testified, "I received a call to assist Broward County EMS with a **suspicious incident** where a subject may be passed out behind the wheel of a vehicle" (T. 82).(emphasis supplied). He explained that Respondent's van was parked in a warehouse parking lot in an industrial area in Weston that is "normally unoccupied" at around 8:30 to 9:00 in the evening in "very limited" lighting (T. 82-83). Hence, the responding officer did go to the scene pursuant to a tip of suspicious circumstances.²

Second, the record clearly shows that Deputy Schneider, who

²The nature of the tip likely was not elaborated upon because the testimony was before the jury at trial, and not during a separate motion to suppress hearing.

arrived at the scene around the time EMS did, was concerned about Appellant's safety in the same way that the officer in <u>Lightbourne</u> might have been concerned about the safety of the defendant. Deputy Schneider said that Appellant was "slumped" over the wheel of his van (T. 83). He thought that Appellant might be unconscious (T. 82). He testified:

I'm concerned for his safety, first of all. Maybe there was some reason he was here... Incapacitated or something was wrong and he needed either medical attention or some kind of attention.

(T. 83).(emphasis supplied).

As in this case, there was no indication in the Lightbourne opinion that the officer was worried about the defendant's safety after talking to him and looking at his identification. This court in Lightbourne suggested that the officer had asked the defendant questions about why he was in the parking lot. 438 So. 2d at 387-388. Notably, the Lightbourne opinion does not set out any facts suggesting that the defendant gave any response to the officer's questions that might have suggested that he was in danger.

Moreover, this court emphasized that while the responding officer was "motivated" by a concern that the defendant might be in need of assistance, as was Deputy Schneider in this case, upon arriving on the scene, the officer then acted prudently for

<u>11</u>

the safety of the community. 438 So. 2d at 388. In this case, the deputy said that when Appellant stepped out of his vehicle, he asked for identification as standard procedure because he wanted to know with whom he was talking (T. 84, 91-92).

Citing to <u>Lightbourne</u>, the court in <u>State v. Chang</u>, 668 So. 2d 207, 208 (Fla. 1st DCA 1996), a case wherein the officers saw a group of males standing in front of a vacant house known for drug trafficking and asked the group what they were doing there, held in regard to the check on the defendant's license:

We hold that the trial court erred in holding that Chang was illegally detained. There was no constitutional violation in Officer Schwab approaching Chang, asking for identification, receiving Chang's driver's license, and running a check for warrants. (citations omitted). The contact between Officer Schwab and Chang was nothing more than a consensual encounter between a police officer and citizen. (citations omitted).

668 So. 2d at 208.

Because the encounter was deemed consensual, the court stated that it only had to determine whether the subsequent consent to search was voluntary.

Similarly, in <u>State v. Robinson</u>, 740 So. 2d 9, 11-12 (Fla. 1st DCA 1999), the court described the contact between the defendant and officer, who was on patrol and noticed that dogs were barking in the area around the defendant, as "minimal." It said that the contact was consensual at the point where the

12

officer asked for identification and ran a check on it upon the defendant producing it for him.

On the same line of reasoning, the court in <u>State v.</u> <u>Arnold</u>, 475 So. 2d 301 (Fla. 2d DCA 1985) reversed the order granting the motion to suppress based on an unfounded stop. It determined that the officer, who went to the scene because of a call about a suspicious boat in the area, acted reasonably in requesting identification from the defendant and running a check on it. It said, relying on <u>Lightbourne</u>, that the encounter did not rise to the level of a stop or seizure. 475 So. 2d at 307.

The Second District again relied on <u>Lightbourne</u> in <u>State v.</u> <u>Mitchell</u>, 638 So. 2d 1015 (Fla. 2d DCA 1994), wherein the court held that the initial encounter between the defendant and the officer was consensual. The officer in <u>Mitchell</u> approached the defendant's vehicle, which was parked in the lot of a closed gas station early in the morning, asked about the defendant's business there and identity, and ran a computer check on the identification.

Likewise, the court in <u>McClane v. Rose</u>, 537 So. 2d 652 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989) determined that the trial court improperly denied forfeiture on the basis that the cocaine found on the defendant was unlawfully seized. It rejected the contention that the officers needed reasonable suspicion to approach the defendant

<u>13</u>

and check his identification, deciding that the encounter was consensual.

In <u>McLane</u>, the officers approached the defendant and asked for his driver's license. Upon receiving the license, the officer requested computer information on the defendant. While waiting for this information, the officer observed the passenger in the defendant's car appear to try to hide something, so he ordered the passenger to exit, at which time the officer discovered a bag of cocaine between the console and the seat. The Second District in <u>McLane</u> found that the defendant was not detained until after the officers found the cocaine. 537 So. 2d at 654.

Still yet, in the recent case of <u>Watts v. State</u>, 788 So. 2d 1040 (Fla. 2d DCA 2001)(en banc), the court described the encounter between the defendant and officer, in which the officer walked up to the defendant, who was in a "high drug area," asked questions and for identification, and ran a warrant check on the identification, as consensual. It stated, "Watts was still free to go at this point and the encounter remained consensual." 788 So. 2d at 1041.

Even more recently, after the decision in this case, the Second District indicated in <u>Parsons v. State</u>, 27 Fla. L. Weekly D988 (Fla. 2d DCA May 3, 2002) that the encounter remained

<u>14</u>

consensual at the point where the officer asked for identification and ran a records check on it. It said that the encounter became an investigatory stop, though, when the officer then ordered the defendant, who was asleep in the car parked in a public lot, out of his automobile.

In <u>Florida v.Bostick</u>, 501 U.S. 429, 439 (1991), the court refused to accept the state court's finding that one factor, the cramped confines of the bus, was enough to be a dispositive factor in every case; it directed that it was a single point that had to be taken into consideration with other factors. Thus, it remanded the case for the court to consider all of the circumstances surrounding the encounter to determine whether the police conduct communicated to a reasonable person that he was not free to decline the officer's requests and terminate the encounter. 501 U.S. at 439.

Accordingly, at least one federal circuit has refused to find that the single factor of an officer retaining a license for the purpose of running a computer check on it constitutes a seizure. In <u>U.S. v. Weaver</u>, 282 F. 3d 302, 310 (4th Cir. 2002), the Fourth Circuit refused to adopt a bright-line rule that when an officer retains a person's identification to check for outstanding warrants, the person is effectively seized. <u>See also</u> <u>U.S. v. Analla</u>, 975 F.2d 119 (4th Cir. 1992)(officer stood near

<u>15</u>

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