IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Petitioner,

vs.

CASE NO. SC02-1173

ROBERT BAEZ,

Respondent.

ANSWER BRIEF OF RESPONDENT ON THE MERITS

On Petition for Discretionary Review from the Fourth District Court of Appeal.

CAROL HAUGHWOUT
Public Defender
15th Judicial Circuit of Florida
Criminal Justice Building
421 Third Street/6th Floor
West Palm Beach, Florida 33401
(561) 355-7600

GARY LEE CALDWELL Assistant Public Defender Florida Bar No. 256919

Counsel for Petitioner

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The lower court held that the driver of a car cannot leave when the police take his license. Hence, it held that such a driver has been detained. Its decision does not expressly and directly conflict with decisions of this Court or of another district court of appeal on the same question of law and was not legally erroneous. This Court should affirm.

ARGUMENT

WHETHER THE DECISION OF THE DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL WAS ERRONEOUS.

The lower court based its decision on the following inarguable propositions: He who is not free to leave is detained. The driver of a car loses his freedom to leave when the police take his license. Hence, he has been detained. It wrote:

We conclude that, in the present case, at the point in time after the officer had inspected appellant's driver's license, the consensual encounter had ended. When the officer retained it in order to investigate further by running a warrant check, no reasonable person would have felt free to leave. The search which produced the cocaine, accordingly, was the fruit of an unlawful seizure and violated the Fourth Amendment. The court erred in denying the motion to suppress.

<u>Baez v. State</u>, 814 So. 2d 1149, 1152-53 (Fla. 4th DCA 2002). The court further noted that there was no suspect criminal activity. Id. at 1152.

Once the officer took respondent's license (and apparently never returned it), respondent was not free to leave and was therefore detained. See United States v. Thompson, 712 F.2d 1356, 1359-60 (11th Cir. 1983) (stating it is a "common-sense conclusion" that a driver is "effectively immobilized" while a police officer detains his license, so that the driver has been detained for Fourth Amendment purposes); Salt Lake City v. Ray, 998 P.2d 274, 278 (Utah App. 2000) (woman detained when officer held her identification card for five minutes to run warrants check: "a reasonable person in Ray's position would not feel

free to just walk away, thereby abandoning her identification, let alone to approach Officer Eldard, take back her identification, and then leave"); Richmond v. Commonwealth, 468 S.E.2d 708, 710 (Va. App. 1996) ("'what began as a consensual encounter quickly became an investigative detention once the [officer] received [the individual's] driver's license and did not return it to him.'" (quoting <u>United States v. Lambert</u>, 46 F.3d 1064, 1068 (10th Cir. 1995)) ("Furthermore, as a practical matter, if appellant left the scene in his vehicle while Deputy Sizemore had his driver's license, appellant would have violated Code § 46.2-104, which prohibits a vehicle operator from driving without a license."); State v. Daniel, 12 S.W.3d 420, 426 (Tenn. 2000) ("courts have typically held that an encounter becomes a 'seizure' if an officer: ... retains a citizen's identification or other property"); Finger v. State, 769 N.E.2d 207, 215 (Ind. App. 2002) ("a consensual encounter becomes an investigatory stop under the Fourth Amendment when a law enforcement agent retains an individual's driver's license or other identification").

The reasonableness of a detention depends on its legitimate purpose. For instance, "while a law enforcement officer clearly is entitled to stop a vehicle for a traffic violation, the stop must last no longer than the time it takes to write the traffic citation." Thomas v. State, 614 So. 2d 468, 471 (Fla. 1993).

Maxwell v. State, 785 So. 2d 1277 (Fla. 5th DCA 2001), is illustrative on this point. An officer legitimately stopped Rusty Maxwell to issue him a warning for speeding, but prolonged the detention by questioning Maxwell until another a K-9 officer arrived and the dog alerted on the vehicle. The Fifth DCA found the officer's questioning of Maxwell improper under Thomas, and wrote that the "questioning was purposeless unless its purpose was a fishing expedition and a delaying tactic to allow time for the K-9 unit to arrive." 785 So. 2d at 1279.

At bar, there was no lawful basis for a detention, hence a detention of any duration was unreasonable. When the officer got respondent's license, he had no reason to suspect that respondent had committed any crime or was in any trouble at all. T 93. He disavowed any investigation to determine whether respondent was under the influence of alcohol or drugs. T 93-94. Hence, any detention at that point was purposeless except as a fishing expedition and delaying tactic under Maxwell.

Respondent submits that a police-citizen encounter turns into an investigative detention as the encounter becomes less like a conversation and more like an investigative interrogation of a suspect. In a normal conversation, one does not ask one's interlocutor to produce identification,² and one does not

² Thus, the officer testified: "And at this point, I asked for identification which is standard procedure if I'm speaking to anyone other than a normal everyday circumstance." T 84 (e.s.). His only apparent reason for taking the license was

normally detain the other's identification in order to run a warrants check. At bar, the lower court did not err in determining that the encounter crossed the line and became a detention when the officer got respondent's license and ran a records check.

Instructive in this regard is <u>Popple v. State</u>, 626 So. 2d 185 (Fla. 1993). An officer approached Tedd Popple, who was lawfully parked car on the side of a desolate street near a high crime area. The officer noticed furtive movements, and asked Popple to get out of the car. This Court wrote at pages 187-88:

Although there is no litmus-paper test for distinguishing a consensual encounter from a seizure, a significant identifying characteristic of a consensual encounter is that the officer cannot hinder or restrict the person's freedom to leave or freedom to refuse to answer inquiries, and the person may not be detained without a well-founded and articulable suspicion of criminal activity. State v. Simons, 549 So. 2d 785 (Fla. 2d DCA 1989). This Court has consistently held that a person is seized if, under the circumstances, a reasonable person would conclude that he or she is not free to end the encounter and depart. <u>Jacobson v. State</u>, 476 So. 2d 1282 (Fla. 1985). Whether characterized as a request or an order, we conclude that Deputy Wilmoth's direction for Popple to exit his vehicle constituted a show of authority which restrained Popple's freedom of movement because a reasonable person under the circumstances would believe that he should comply.

The situation at bar presented a situation in which one would similarly feel that he had to comply with the police. In

investigative: "... I requested identification to know what I was talking to, yes, sir. And completed my investigation and move on." T 92.

fact, under section 322.15 (1), Florida Statutes, respondent was compelled to show the officer his license upon request.³ Accordingly, the Fourth DCA was correct in its ruling.

Petitioner's brief contends that the opinion expressly and directly conflicts with other Florida appellate decisions on the same question of law and should be reversed. Petitioner's brief does not state by what standard this Court is to review the opinion.

Although this Court has apparently not articulated a standard of review in conflict jurisdiction cases, respondent submits that the standard should be: 1) whether the lower court's opinion expressly and directly conflicts with the decision of another state appellate court as to a specific question of law; and 2) whether the lower court's legal analysis of that question of law was erroneous.

Such a standard would be in keeping with the general premise that, as a case "travels up the judicial ladder, review should

Every licensee shall have his or her driver's license, which must be fully legible with no portion of such license faded, altered, mutilated, or defaced, in his or her immediate possession at all times when operating a motor vehicle and shall display the same upon the demand of a law enforcement officer or an authorized representative of the department.

³ The statute provides:

Of course, the fact that there is a statute requiring persons to identify themselves on request does not <u>ipso facto</u> make every request for identification reasonable or constitutional. \underline{Cf} . Brown v. Texas, 443. U.S. 47 (1979).

Community Dev. v. Heggs, 658 So. 2d 523, 530 (Fla. 1995); The Florida Bar re Williams, 718 So. 2d 773, 778, n. 5 (Fla. 1998).

At bar, petitioner has not clearly identified the precise point of law on which a conflict supposedly lies. Its brief sets out a generalized discussion of various cases involving a wide variety of factual situations, and essentially asks this Court to act as a second appellate court. The specific issue decided by the lower court was whether an officer's retention of a motorist's driver's license is improper where there is no suspicion of criminal activity. Petitioner does not show a conflict of state decisional law on that point.

Petitioner's brief claims that the district court's decision conflicts with <u>Lightbourne v. State</u>, 438 So. 2d 380 (Fla. 1983). Although the facts of <u>Lightbourne</u> are somewhat unclear, it appears that Officer McGowan received a report of a suspicious car, and, approaching the car, spoke with its driver, Ian Lightbourne. This Court wrote that this contact was consensual "prior to" Lightbourne's giving his license to McGowan: "There is nothing in the record that would indicate that prior to defendant voluntarily relinquishing his driver's license to Officer McGowan he was not free to express an alternative wish to go on his way." <u>Id</u>. at 388. At some point, Lightbourne's furtive movements and nervous appearance led the officer to form

a reasonable belief that he was armed and potentially dangerous, so that the officer patted him down. The pat down apparently revealed a gun on Lightbourne's person. This Court ruled that the initial contact was consensual and that Lightbourne's suspicious behavior justified an investigative detention and search.

Thus <u>Lightbourne</u> did not hold that one is still free to go after surrendering one's license. Hence, it never addressed the point of law on which the lower court based its decision at bar: that one is not free to drive away, and therefore is detained, once one has given the police one's license. Thus there is no direct and express conflict between the two cases on the same point of law. Further, the officer's actions in <u>Lightbourne</u> were reasonable in light of the facts that he was investigating a report of a suspicious car whose driver began to make furtive movements leading the officer to believe he was armed and possibly dangerous. There is no conflict between <u>Lightbroune</u> and the case at bar.⁴

In this regard, petitioner puts great reliance on the officer's testimony at bar that he had been responding to "a call to assist Broward County EMS with a suspicious incident where a subject may be passed out behind the wheel of a vehicle." Initial brief, page 10 (citing to transcript page 82). Although the deputy used the word "suspicious", he did not say that there was a report of suspected criminal activity. In fact, as he testified, he had no reason to suspect that respondent had committed any crime. T 93. Hence, as the lower court observed, the case at bar is unlike <u>Lightbourne</u> in that at bar the officer "was not responding to a tip of suspicious activity." 814 So. 2d at 1152.

In the middle of its discussion of <u>Lightbourne</u>, petitioner places considerable reliance on <u>U.S. v. Mendenhall</u>, 446 U.S. 544 (1980), and notes that this Court is bound to follow United States Supreme Court precedent respecting the Fourth Amendment pursuant to article I, section 12 of our constitution. In <u>U.S. v. Mendenhall</u>, the officers returned Mendenhall's ticket and license to her before asking her to go with them, and that she was specifically told that she had the right to refuse the search, and she said "Go ahead.", and then she was again asked by another officer if she consented to the search, and she again consented. <u>Id</u>. at 548 (plurality opinion). Hence, the search was not coerced. <u>U.S. v. Mendenhall</u> has no bearing on the case at bar.

At bar, respondent was compelled by section 322.15 (1) to show the officer his license.⁵ Under the circumstances, it is highly unlikely that he would have reasonably thought that he had any right to depart the scene, or that he could demand the license back from the officer. Since the officer did not return the license, and since he did not advise respondent that he

⁵ Although it is generally assumed in the case law, on the basis of <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, 460 U.S. 491 (1983) and <u>Florida v. Bostick</u> 501 U.S. 429 (1991), that an officer's request to see identification is not coercive and may be refused, the cases do not address the effect of statutes which compel drivers to display their licenses upon request. Neither <u>Florida v. Royer</u> nor <u>Florida v. Bostick</u> involved a motorist, so that one cannot draw from them the conclusion that motorists are free to refuse a request to show their licenses and go about their way.

could get the license back and go on his way, the case at bar presents a situation completely different from U.S. Mendenhall.

In <u>Florida v. Royer</u>, the fact that the officers detained Royer's identification and property turned the encounter into a seizure (460 U.S. at 503 (n. 9)) (plurality opinion):

The case before us differs [from <u>U.S. v. Mendenhall</u>] in important respects. Here, Royer's ticket and identification remained in the possession of the officers throughout the encounter; the officers also seized and had possession of his luggage. As a practical matter, Royer could not leave the airport without them.

Respondent was similarly immobilized at bar. The officer had his license, so that as a practical matter he could not drive away.

I.N.S. v. Delgado, 466 U.S. 210 (1984) involves a situation completely different from the facts at bar. The plaintiffs in that case were at work and could have refused to answer the officers and continued with their work. The Supreme Court rejected the lower court's ruling that the entire work force of the factories were seized for the duration of the surveys when INS placed agents near the exits. Id. at 218. It wrote that the conduct of the agents "should have given respondents no reason to believe that they would be detained if they gave truthful answers to the questions put to them or if they simply refused to answer." Id.

The defendant in Michigan v. Chesternut, 486 U.S. 546 (1988) was not only free to proceed on his way, he did proceed on his way, with no restriction on his liberty until the officers saw him drop contraband on the ground.

Florida v. Bostick, does not support petitioner's case. When confronting Terrance Bostick on a bus, the officers "immediately returned" his identification after looking at it, 501 U.S. at 431-32, and "specifically advised" him that he had the right to refuse consent to a search. Id. at 432. The Court wrote that "Bostick's freedom of movement was restricted by a factor independent of police conduct - i.e., by his being a passenger on a bus." Id. at 436. Accordingly, there was no detention of Bostick, so that "the 'free to leave' analysis on which Bostick relies is inapplicable." Id. The case at bar presents the opposite situation: the officer retained the license, did not advise him of his right to refuse, and respondent's freedom was restricted by the officer's action.

Hence, with respect to article I, section 12, it is noteworthy that there is no on-point United States Supreme Court case which this Court is compelled to follow. The state constitutional exclusionary rule existed long before Mapp v. Ohio, 367 U.S. 643 (1961) applied the federal exclusionary rule to the states. See, e.g., Mathis v. State, 153 Fla. 750, 751-52, 15 So. 2d 762 (1943) (citing cases). Absent a United States

Supreme Court decision dictating a particular result, this Court should first rule on the issue as a matter of state constitutional law pursuant to the federalist doctrine of primacy articulated in Traylor v. State, 596 So. 2d 957, 961-963 (Fla. 1992), and then rule on the federal constitutional issue only if necessary. See also State v. Hoggins, 718 So. 2d 761 (Fla. 1998) and State v. North Fla. Women's Health And Counseling Ser., 2001 WL 111037, 26 Fla. L. Weekly D419 (Fla. 1st DCA Feb 09, 2001).

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